## University of Arkansas, Fayetteville

# ScholarWorks@UARK

**Graduate Theses and Dissertations** 

8-2022

# Examining the Intersection of Cultural Competence and Classroom Management Self-Efficacy in Northwest Arkansas K-6 Teachers

Bonnie Culp King University of Arkansas, Fayetteville

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd

Part of the Curriculum and Instruction Commons, Educational Assessment, Evaluation, and Research Commons, and the Educational Methods Commons

#### Citation

King, B. C. (2022). Examining the Intersection of Cultural Competence and Classroom Management Self-Efficacy in Northwest Arkansas K-6 Teachers. *Graduate Theses and Dissertations* Retrieved from https://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd/4663

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks@UARK. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UARK. For more information, please contact scholar@uark.edu, uarepos@uark.edu.

### Examining the Intersection of Cultural Competence and Classroom Management Self-Efficacy in Northwest Arkansas K-6 Teachers

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education in Adult and Lifelong Learning

by

Bonnie King University of Arkansas Bachelor of Science in Education, 2001 University of Arkansas Master of Arts in Teaching, 2002

> August 2022 University of Arkansas

This dissertation is approved for i	dissertation is approved for recommendation to the Graduate Council.		
Kit Kacirek, Ed.D.	-		
Dissertation Chair			
Kenda Grover, Ed.D. Committee Member	Christine Ralston, Ph.D. Committee Member		

#### Abstract

This study aims to examine the relationship between Northwest Arkansas K-6 teachers' cultural competence and classroom management self-efficacy. Multiple linear regression will be the quantitative approach used for analyzing K-6 teachers' self-reported data. Valid and reliable instruments will be used to measure the concepts as operationalized for this study. Cultural competence will be measured using the "Multicultural Teaching Competency Scale" and classroom management self-efficacy will be measured using the "Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale." Demographic information will be collected to control for two variables: a teacher's years of experience in teaching and race/ethnicity. Descriptive statistics and inferential statistics will be used to analyze the samples' data. Descriptive statistics will provide a summarized context of the participants' data. Inferential statistics will be analyzed to determine the strength of the relationships between the variables. A statistically significant relationship would indicate that the relationship between variables in the sample may exist in the population. Research suggests that the determining factor in student achievement in schools is teacher quality. This study will provide additional empirical data on factors influencing teacher quality by examining the relationship between cultural competency and classroom management self-efficacy. Findings from this study will contribute to the body of research focused on addressing the increasing demands in public schools influenced by the shifting demographics of students they serve.

#### Acknowledgments

This study would not be possible without the guidance and direction of my instructors. Thank you to Dr. Kit Kacirek for helping me wrestle with narrowing down my big ideas into a measurable research question and always encouraging me to keep learning. Thank you to Dr. Kevin Roessger for supporting my reluctant trek into statistical research, and ultimately lighting a fire in me around quantitative methods in educational research. Thank you to Dr. Kenda Grover for consistently providing engaging instruction and specific feedback that motivated me to continue growing personally and professionally. Words cannot express how grateful I am to my friend and colleague, Dr. Christine Ralston, for constantly providing encouragement, prayers, and asking the right questions to keep me moving. I am thankful for the wisdom and support shared with me by my friend, Nellie Beall, my colleagues in the Curriculum and Instruction Department, and the Elementary Education/Childhood Education program as I have grown in my ability to apply our critical DEI work for improving our community and the students we teach. I greatly appreciate the ADLL 2020 cohort for the way we championed through challenging years together with humor and generosity as we shared our strengths and skills with one another. An enormous thank you to my sister, Becky Shofner, for holding my hand through all of life's twists and turns. I could not have done it without you and Jesus. Thank you to my friends who prayed holes in the knees of their pants for me to stay mentally, physically, and spiritually strong. I have been reflecting on how much I have learned from my interactions with my students, mentor teachers, and school administrators I work with in the public schools. Thank you for motivating me to become the best educator I can to help support the tremendous work you do with K-6 students. Educators create the foundation for learning in children when brains are most malleable, there is not another profession that impacts the future like teaching.

#### **Dedication**

This study is dedicated to my amazing husband and precious children. Tyler, thank you for picking up the slack in all areas of our life as I took time to write and study these past few years at night and on weekends. You never complained and celebrate along with me as I made progress toward this goal. Caroline, Thomas, and Ethan, your encouragement and prayers were a sustaining force for me through this journey. Your sticky notes with positive words on my laptop and books will always be a cherished memory of the sweet way you supported your mom. I love you to the moon and back again infinity times! As I dedicate this study to you four, I pray we continue to grow in our faith and love for serving others.

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Background of Study	1
Attrition Among Classroom Teachers	2
Changing Demographics	3
Need and Purpose	4
Definitions	6
Research Question	8
Scope and Limitations	8
Summary	9
Chapter 2: Literature Review	10
Research Methods	11
Impact of Classroom Management Practices	12
Cradle to Prison Pipeline	12
Social Emotional Learning and Trauma Informed Education	13
Cultural Competence	15
Evolving Terminology	15
Influence on Teaching	16
Classroom Management Self-Efficacy	16
History	18
Cultural Competence and Classroom Management Self-Efficacy	19
Effects of Culturally Responsive Teaching on Classroom Management	20
Theoretical Framework	21
Self-Efficacy Theory	21
Critical Race Theory	23
Hypothesis	25
Summary	
Chapter 3: Methods	
Study Design	27
Research Question and Hypothesis	
Study Setting	
Participants and Placement	

Materials	32
Measures	33
Dependent Variable: Classroom Management Self-Efficacy	33
Independent Variable: Cultural Competency Readiness	33
Control Variable: Years of Teaching, Race/Ethnicity	34
Data Collection	34
Data Analysis	35
Internal and External Validity	37
Summary	37
References	39
Appendix A: Measure of Independent Variable: Cultural Competence Readiness Surv	ey47
Appendix B: Measure of Dependent Variable: Classroom Management Self-Efficacy	48
Appendix C: Control Variables: Researcher Created Questions	49
Appendix D: Survey Invitation Email	50

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

Teacher preparation programs have historically approached classroom management as a course on preventing student misbehavior; however, emerging literature cites the need to redefine classroom management in relation to the growing diversity among U.S. students. This shift in demographics and increased demands for social justice requires teachers to demonstrate a level of cultural competency that enables them to build cross-cultural relationships essential to a supportive learning environment for students. In this chapter, I outline how cultural competency has become a critical attribute in developing classroom management skills in educators. I discuss how classroom management in K-12 school settings is a common factor in teacher attrition, job satisfaction, and student achievement research. I theoretically define concepts related to cultural competency and classroom management self-efficacy and describe the questions guiding this quantitative multiple regression study. I conclude this chapter by discussing the proposed study's scope and limitations.

#### **Background of Study**

The subject of classroom management in teacher preparation programs often emphasizes the importance of controlling students' behavior and minimizing disruption through building relationships with students, establishing procedures, and using rewards and punishments (Evertson & Emmer, 2022). However, as K-12 student populations become increasingly more diverse, research suggests the need for classroom management to focus on equity (Milner et al., 2018). This need highlights a challenging clash of "norms" in the classroom. The predominantly female, white, middle-class K-12 teacher population starkly contrasts the multicultural student population (Egalite & Kisida, 2018). Gloria Ladson-Billings (2006) describes the disconnect many teachers have as a "poverty of culture" (p. 105). An example is when a student is labeled "difficult," and the explanation for the difficulty is blamed on the student's culture. This cultural

lens deficit prevents teachers from uncovering their students' true academic and social needs of and prevents students from reaching their true learning potential.

Research suggests that teachers' belief in their ability to positively impact student learning results in an increase in student achievement (Corkett et al., 2011; Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). A recent meta-analysis concluded that the context of a teacher's work environment is a determining factor in the correlation between teacher self-efficacy and student achievement (Kim & Seo, 2018). This context includes the teacher's length of teaching experience and school type (Bay, 2020). Further research is needed to understand contextual variables that influence teachers' self-efficacy in today's classrooms, which are becoming more linguistically and culturally diverse (Kahn et al., 2014).

#### Attrition Among Classroom Teachers

High attrition rates for K-12 classroom teachers are problematic for the profession, with one-third of teachers leaving in the first three years of teaching and one-half leaving within the first five years (Billingsley, 2004; Chambers Mack et al., 2019). Research suggests that stress, increased by problems with students' attitudes, progress, and discipline, is the most significant factors for attrition (Chambers Mack et al., 2019). Teachers in urban communities report higher stress levels than in other regions (Haberman, 2005). Factors that contribute to their higher stress include lack of funding for schools and the impact of collective trauma which manifests, in teachers and students alike, as physical health problems, mental health issues, and an increase in risky behaviors (Belanger et al., 2018; Delale-O'Connor et al., 2017; White House, 2015). Hirschberger (2018) states, "Collective trauma is a devastating event in a group's history that has far-reaching effects and profoundly influences both perpetrator and victim groups many years after the events have ended" (p. 10.) These traumatic events in the past and present have cultural

implications in the classroom; they leave students with difficult questions and emotions that teachers feel unprepared to manage (Venet, 2021). Much of the teacher population does not share the demographics or lived experiences of those most impacted by these types of traumas. It is challenging for these teachers to recognize the implicit bias embedded in their instruction and to know how to confront the deficit thinking that can occur with trauma response behaviors in classrooms (Bazemore-Bertrand & Porcher, 2020). Teachers need to recognize that these contextual issues can result in expressed behaviors which are frequently misinterpreted, and students become mislabeled as "disrespectful" or "uncaring." These misunderstandings often lead to punishment of students instead of determining the supports these students need (Delale-O'Connor et al., 2017).

#### **Changing Demographics**

Researcher Richard Milner (2012) has extensively studied the rapidly changing demographics in United States schools. He is redefining the labels given to school settings to reflect the demographics more accurately. For example, a "rural" setting could be considered racially, ethnically, and linguistically homogenous; however, rural areas in Northwest Arkansas are better described by Milner's term "urban characteristic." Urban characteristic describes an area that includes a high population of English Language Learners, students living in poverty, and/or historically marginalized racial or ethnic groups. Milner defines urban characteristic schools as those "that are not located in large cities but may be experiencing increases in challenges that are often associated with urban contexts" (p. 560). In two Northwest Arkansas school districts, the majority of their students represent Hispanic or Latino cultures. The largest school district has 49 different languages spoken, and 36% of students are considered English Language Learners (Northwest Arkansas Council, 2021). Redefining our school settings as urban

characteristic helps bring awareness to educational stakeholders of the need for more support to increase teachers' cultural competence. It also adds a search term for academics to consider when studying similar settings. It is critical to explore the relationship between variables identified in current literature to inform educators of suggested actions that can bring systemic change and create supportive classroom environments for all students.

As the student demographics are rapidly changing, it is also essential to examine the demographics of teachers. Statistics indicate non-Hispanic, white public-school teachers in the United States make up 79% of the workforce, while 53% of K-12 students are non-white (Schaeffer, 2021). It is critical to increase teachers' understanding and appreciation of cultural differences among themselves, the students, and the community they serve, as it impacts their classroom management decisions and student learning outcomes (Walter, 2018). Otherwise, teachers' lack of cultural awareness may cause them to misinterpret classroom behavior and further marginalize students by separating them from the class (Souto-Manning & Cheruvu, 2016; Venet, 2021). When teachers are not prepared to view students' misbehaviors as expressed needs, they tend to separate students from their classroom for discipline or punishment. This punitive action can harm the relationship between the teacher and student continuing the cycle of stress. Focusing on meeting the students' needs, rather than shaming or punishing, empowers students and teachers to build skills that lead to a supportive learning environment (Souers & Hall, 2018).

#### **Need and Purpose**

As the political, social, and medical climate in the United States has undergone extreme changes in the last few years, stress on educators is becoming more apparent as districts encounter a lack of qualified applicants and rising attrition rates in current staff (Will, 2021). The

lack of diverse representation in the teacher population has been documented in research for decades and "[d]espite the suggested benefits of diversity, the elementary and secondary educator workforce is still overwhelmingly homogenous (U.S Department of Education, 2016, p.31). The COVID-19 pandemic has changed the landscape of normal operations for Educator Preparation Programs (EPPs) and professional development teachers. It exposed existing inequities in public education and opportunities to focus on the needs of our K-12 students. Collecting data from current teachers who have experienced teaching through a pandemic could support the argument to embed more culturally responsive teaching practices in curriculum and field experiences. The purpose of this regression study is to examine the relationship between cultural competency and teachers' classroom management self-efficacy. Research suggests that context influences the dependent variable of classroom management self-efficacy (Bandura, 1989). Controlling for the contextual variables of a teacher's length in the number of years of teaching and whether the teacher's school receives funding for students based on the majority of families who qualify for free or reduced lunch will help clarify a relationship between cultural competency readiness and classroom management self-efficacy (Berger et al., 2018; Stipek, 2012). This study aims to add empirical support for increasing teachers' self-efficacy by highlighting the relationship between cultural competence and classroom management. Shifting the focus away from the traditional method of managing student behavior and increasing teachers' cultural knowledge and skills would give teachers more confidence in their ability to lead their classrooms (Milner et al., 2018).

Research traditionally categorized teaching settings as urban, rural, or suburban based on population density; however, the landscape of teaching settings is now better characterized by the cultural makeup of a community such as Milner (2018) and other researchers define through

the term "urban characteristic". As K-12 teachers are primarily white, middle-class females (La Salle et al., 2020), this homogenized teacher population would benefit from having a deeper understanding of their own cultural norms and their impact on students with differing cultural norms (Souto-Manning & Cheruvu, 2016). Studies indicate that a teacher's lack of cultural competence negatively impacts culturally diverse students (Gay, 2013; Ladson-Billings, 2006; Milner et al., 2018). Misinterpreted student behavior leads to punishment, suspension, or expulsion, contributing to the Cradle to Prison Pipeline (CtPP) (Bottiani et al., 2018; Rumberger & Losen, 2016; Welch et al., 2022). This study will provide empirical data on the relationship between cultural competency and classroom management self-efficacy by adding to the body of research advocating for a need to shift coursework in educator preparation programs to meet the needs of the population of students served in K-12 settings.

#### **Definitions**

Several concepts will be prominent in the context and setting of this study. The following is a list of conceptual definitions that frame the background for the research.

Classroom management self-efficacy is defined as teachers' "judgments of their capability to successfully perform classroom management tasks in the face of difficulties, for example, by interacting with individuals and groups, setting classroom guidelines, expectations and rules, and controlling disruptive behavior" (Lazarides et al., 2020, p.2).

Cultural competence readiness is the "[t]eachers' ability to recognize their world views, to understand and embrace the cultural diversity of their students, and to confront their potential biases and assumptions in their interactions with diverse students and their families" (He, 2013, p. 56).

Educator Preparation Program (EPP) is the "entity responsible for the preparation of P-12 educators at initial and advanced levels. EPPs may include non-profit organizations, public or private institutions of higher education, a school district, a corporation, or a governmental agency" (Council for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation, 2020).

*Race/Ethnicity* refers to groups and cultures having socially significant differences in language, ancestry, practices, and beliefs (National Center for Education Statistics, 2020).

Milner (2012) to reframe understanding that current school settings are better described on a continuum of having categories of urban intensive, urban emergent, and urban characteristic rather than rural, suburban, and urban. Urban intensive schools are "...those that are concentrated in large, metropolitan cities across the United States, such as New York, Chicago, Los Angeles, and Atlanta" (p.560). Urban emergent schools are typically located in large cities but not as large as the major cities. They have some of the same characteristics and challenges as urban intensive schools and districts in terms of resources, qualification of teachers, and academic development of students. Urban characteristic schools are not located in big cities but may be beginning to experience increases in challenges that are sometimes associated with urban contexts such as an increase in English language learners in a community. These schools may be in locations considered to be rural or even suburban areas. Reframing the language for these settings allows past and present research to be applied to populations that may have previously been considered "urban" areas.

*Years of experience* is operationalized by respondents reporting their number of years teaching, including their current year.

#### **Research Question**

As student demographics in Northwest Arkansas school districts continue to diversify, it is essential to collect data on the teachers working with these students. This data will inform decisions for preparing future educators and determine policy changes to support professional development initiatives. This study will examine the relationship between classroom management self-efficacy and a teacher's cultural competence while considering the teacher's context. The control variables will be the years of teaching experience and the teacher's race/ethnicity. The research question for this study is:

What is the relationship between a teacher's perceived cultural competence readiness and classroom management self-efficacy?

#### **Scope and Limitations**

This study aims to add to empirical research on the relationship between teachers' cultural competency readiness and classroom management self-efficacy. Limitations include the self-reported nature of surveys to measure the variables. There is a risk of increased bias as teachers decide what to disclose on surveys; this could lead to skewed results from responses influenced by social desirability. The participants for the study are situated in Northwest Arkansas, which fills a gap in the literature around cultural competence and the rapidly changing demographics of this area of the state. However, this focus on a particular population may threaten external validity if not enough teachers willing to participate in the study. Enough respondents in each subcategory are required to run the multiple regression analysis that will determine whether the results are statistically significant.

#### **Summary**

Examining the relationship between the variables of cultural competency and teachers' classroom management self-efficacy as it relates to managing and leading a classroom effectively for all learners could contribute critical data that influences educational policy in public schools and Educator Preparation Programs (EPPs) that have similar changing student demographics. This study is an attempt to address the problem of changing student demographics by exploring the underlying teacher variables and following the most current research on reimagining classroom management for equity (Milner et al., 2018). I expect this study to make contributions to the research and literature regarding the impact of cultural competency on teachers' self-efficacy, ultimately improving students' learning and achievement.

#### **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

Research supports shifting the previously held definition of "classroom management" toward a collective understanding that our teaching pedagogy must evolve with the changing demographics of our students (Gay, 2013; Milner et al., 2018). This shift points to the need to increase teachers' cultural competence and understand how it can impact student learning outcomes (National Education Association, 2008). This reimagining of classroom management practices can increase student achievement and decrease the use of exclusionary practices, such as suspending and expelling students for misbehavior (Milner et al., 2018). Exclusionary practices in schools "frequently begin with classroom management strategies and choices" and "can have life-long consequences" (Delale-O'Connor et al., 2017, p. 181).

Not only does the shift towards increasing teachers' cultural competence have the potential for decreasing exclusionary practices, but it also supports students who may not cause "trouble" for teachers and yet still disengage from learning while in the classroom (Souers & Hall, 2018). Students can be cognitively disengaged in the classroom for many reasons including but not limited to hunger, exhaustion, family issues, or lack of relationship with the teacher (Venet, 2021). In a meta-analyses report, John Hattie (2003) reviewed over 500,000 studies to distinguish the characteristics of expert teachers and determined that "excellence in teaching is the single most powerful influence on student achievement" (p.4). As teachers experience growth in their cultural competence, their relationships with students evolve and teachers' self-efficacy increases (Martin, 2021).

#### **Research Methods**

Multiple databased were used to review current literature, including Google Scholar, EBSCO, and SAGE. Initially, broad search terms were used within the EBSCO database accessed through the University of Arkansas Library system, including (classroom management) and (cultural competence) and (K-12 school or teaching). Search term combinations of (teachers or teaching) and (classroom management and self-efficacy) were also used. Additional resources were found in the references of the peer-reviewed articles relevant to my context. The terms (cultural competence or culturally responsive) and (K-12 teaching) were also used to find the most up-to-date research on the variables that interest my study. The terms (preservice or teacher candidate) were also included in subsequent searches to determine the current research direction suggestions for my own context. The terms (Cultural competence or culturally responsive) and (classroom management self-efficacy) were used to find the current research of the intersection of my variables. As reference lists of the curated articles were examined, I determined which were the most credible, current, and applicable to inform my research questions. These resources informed the design of my study, which examines the role cultural competency plays in developing classroom management self-efficacy in educators.

In the following chapter, I share research-based evidence to explain how teacher classroom management issues contribute to teacher attrition, low job satisfaction, and negative impact on student achievement (Wang et al., 1993). I theoretically define concepts related to cultural competency and classroom management self-efficacy and describe the questions guiding this study which will be addressed using a multiple regression quantitative approach to investigate relationships between factors impacting the variables.

#### **Impact of Classroom Management Practices**

What might appear to observers as a well-run classroom of quiet, obedient students could also use the exclusionary practices of fear, intimidation, and punishment to control students and eliminate their perceived misbehavior (Delale-O'Connor et al, 2017). Current research shows that valuing and incorporating students' diverse cultural and linguistic assets is critical to providing a supportive learning environment (Khalifa et al., 2016). The problem is that teacher preparation programs tend to equate classroom management with eliminating disruptive behavior instead of using a culturally responsive, equity-based lens that allows teachers to see the benefits of cultural diversity in the classroom.

#### Cradle to Prison Pipeline

Researchers Hayes and Fasching-Varner (2015) define equity as inclusion, or representing fairness, justice, and what is in the best interest of students without personal or socioeconomic circumstances hindering students' ability to succeed. Equality, on the other hand, represents the notion that everyone receives the same treatment or resources regardless of what individuals may need to succeed in meeting goals (Center for Public Education, 2016). The problem of measuring "good" classroom management without an equity lens is that it can exacerbate harmful practices to students that trigger their trauma response and potentially perpetuate the cradle to prison pipeline (CtPP) (Edelman, 2007). The CtPP is a documented phenomenon that traces schools' use of exclusionary practices, including suspension, expulsion, and calls to local law enforcement for student misbehaviors and the long-term impacts on the students as they tend to continue encounters with the judiciary system in their lifetime (Delale-O'Connor et al., 2017). Even though "no data exist to show that out-of-school suspensions and expulsions reduce disruption or improve school climate," these policies are still common in

schools (Skiba, 2014, p. 30). It is documented that Black students are disproportionately punished through exclusionary means compared to their peers of other races (Office for Civil Rights, 2014). Black students in the United States accounted for 31.6% of all students arrested at school or during a school-related activity, which is twice their total student enrollment of 15.1% (Office for Civil Rights, 2021). Students who are suspended or expelled during their K-12 education are more likely to drop out of school and continue into adult incarceration (Balfanz & Fox 2014; Marchbanks III et al., 2014; Safer et al., 1981). Since it is documented that there is a correlation between suspension/expulsion in K-12 schools and the increased risk of future incarceration, it is important to recognize the impact on a local level as Arkansas reflects this phenomenon nationally and internationally. In Arkansas K-12 public schools in the 2011-2012 school year, 21% of the student population consisted of Black students, representing 50% of suspensions and 33% of expulsions (Smith & Harper, 2015). Arkansas incarcerates 900 per 100,000 people, which is more than the average of the United States (698 per 100,000 people) (Jones, 2018). To put the United States' statistic of overreliance on incarceration into perspective, the country with the next highest incarceration rate is the United Kingdom, with 139 per 100,000 people incarcerated. Keeping students connected inside their classrooms by using restorative instead of exclusionary practices is the best way to help students gain the academic and behavioral skills needed to overcome the systemic barriers perpetuating the cradle to prison pipeline (Milner et al., 2018).

#### Social Emotional Learning and Trauma Informed Education

It is important to make the distinction that inequity in classroom management practices does not only hinder students that have historically been considered a marginalized demographic.

As research in neuroscience has increased over the last decades, the implications are becoming

more accessible in teacher education. Around 1995, public schools began to adopt social and emotional learning (SEL) curriculum to equip students with soft skills such as conflict resolution strategies and techniques for regulating one's own emotions (Clarke et al., 2021). Through the research on Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES), we now know lifelong health consequences are correlated to harmful emotional and physical experiences that occur in the formative years of birth to age 18 if they have not been buffered with resilient factors (Anda & Felitti, 2006). Arkansas ranks highest in the nation ACES prevalence, including poverty, divorce, neglect, and abuse (Sacks & Murphey, 2018). Children that have had or are living in trauma will have additional needs that must be met. These needs may manifest in classroom settings as "triggers" or trauma responses such as outbursts, aggression, and/or compliance issues. Teachers must understand how to best support these diverse students (Venet, 2021). For example, when a teacher uses shouting, sarcasm, or shaming language toward students to control students' behavior, some students react with the fight, flight, or freeze brain response that essentially turns "off" the front part of the brain that is used for cognitive thinking. If teachers have not been trained in the indicators of this response, they may further punish the students and cause further trauma (Souers & Hall, 2018). Advances in educational research have led to the development of social/emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed (TI) principles for teachers to facilitate the culture of "brain friendly" classroom environments that help teach students how to recognize emotions and self-regulate their learning (Pawlo et al., 2019; Durlak et al., 2011).

On average, there is one counselor per 450 students in public elementary schools in Arkansas, although research recommends one counselor per every 250 students (Patel & Clinedinst, 2021). Today's teachers must be equipped to meet their students' social and emotional needs in addition to their academic goals. However, SEL initiatives taught without a

lens of cultural responsiveness can cause harm if teachers cannot recognize the influence of their own pedagogical choices on students' behavior (Camangian & Cariaga, 2021). One example is the common SEL practice of forcing students to close their eyes during mindfulness or breathing exercises. Students with a background of trauma tend to have physically adverse responses when forced to close their eyes, and teachers with a culturally responsive pedagogy would allow students a choice in their body position (Duane et al., 2021).

#### **Cultural Competence**

Cultural competence is understood as educators' capacity to articulate the complexity of students' and families' culture across multiple factors (e.g., race, ethnicity, gender, class, geography, sexual orientation, family history, language, and religious affiliation) (He, 2013). The underlying idea of building cultural competence in educators stemmed from the concept of "multicultural education" (Banks, 1995) which posits that all students should have an equal opportunity to learn and that some students have "a better chance to learn in schools as they are currently structured than do students who belong to other groups or who have different characteristics" (Banks, 2014, p. 1). This term has come to mean more surface-level integration of culture by appreciating foods and celebrations rather than Bank's intention (Hammond, 2018).

#### **Evolving Terminology**

As straightforward as the definition seems, the concept of cultural competence is referred to by various educational terminology. Building on properties similar to those in Bank's work, Gloria Ladson-Billings (1995) brought forth a proactive approach to developing "cultural relevant pedagogy" in teachers that "not only addresses student achievement but also helps students to accept and affirm their cultural identity while developing critical perspectives that challenge inequities that schools perpetuate" (p. 469). Continual development in the language

around culture challenges educators to confront implicit bias in themselves and empower students by tapping into their cultural assets to engage them in meaningful learning (Ladson-Billings, 1995; Ford, 2010). Zaretta Hammond (2018) continues Ladson-Billing's work of culturally relevant pedagogy in her framework of "culturally responsive teaching." Hammond describes this framework as one in which educators approach teaching as a way of forming strong relationships with students, but these relationships must directly impact teachers' instructional choices. Hammond states that culturally responsive teaching occurs when teachers "recognize and name a student's learning moves and not mistake culturally different ways of learning and making meaning for intellectual deficits" (p. 5). Educators use terms related to cultural competence interchangeably although there is nuance in the application; however, the underlying philosophy is that teachers must work to continually assess and learn about their students' diverse backgrounds and needs that are most often different than their own (Harmon, 2012).

#### Influence on Teaching

A longitudinal study by Mette et al. (2016) researched teachers' perceptions of the impact of their three years of culturally responsive training. Their results indicated that "there seemingly still exists the notion that racism is so deeply embedded and reinforced that teachers who identify as White are not able to deconstruct the narrative of how public school systems favor White students" (p. 17). Results indicated that the training helped teachers acknowledge cultural differences, yet the pressure from additional school improvement efforts contributed to a perceived lack of significant student improvement even though data suggested percentage increases for non-white students.

A study was conducted by Kahn et al. (2014) to provide data on the relationship between preservice teachers' beliefs about diversity and their cultural competency. Results indicated that the preservice teachers believe that having significant cross-cultural relationships was a factor contributed to their cultural competence. Data analysis also revealed that special education majors had higher levels of culturally competent beliefs than their general education peers. However, the results were insignificant and cannot be generalized. The researchers emphasized the need to further develop culturally competent teaching practices through teacher education programs and ongoing professional development.

Teacher education accreditation programs and state-level departments of education are increasingly asking Educator Preparation Programs (EPPs) to collect data on teachers' cultural competency, underscoring this attribute's value for K-12 teachers (Cormier, 2021). As these concepts relate to classroom management, teachers' classroom management self-efficacy is determined by their perceived beliefs that they can successfully lead and manage the diverse needs of students in their classrooms (Lazarides et al., 2020). As the students in classrooms across the United States become increasingly more varied, there is a need to examine the relationship between classroom management self-efficacy and cultural competency.

#### **Classroom Management Self-Efficacy**

Classroom management is the area in teaching most reported as challenging for novice teachers (Çakmak et al., 2019). And yet, classroom management does not receive needed attention in research or professional discussions (Eisenman et al., 2015). Martin et al. (2016) reiterates the significant impact classroom management has on teachers' stress and attrition, yet it is challenging to research due to its complexity (p.31). Authors of a commonly adopted

textbook for classroom management courses in EPPs suggest that "how a teacher achieves order is as important as whether a teacher achieves order" (Evertson & Emmer, 2022, p. 4).

#### History

Helping teacher candidates understand the development of classroom management theory over time can increase their self-efficacy and ultimately increase student achievement (Kim & Seo, 2018). Albert Bandura (1977) developed the concept of self-efficacy as the primary determinant of behavioral change that occurs in a person. This concept is built on the theory that the psychological determination to persist under challenging situations and reduce defensive behaviors impacts the level of a person's self-efficacy.

In the 1970s, Jacob Kounin (1970) released seminal research that brought classroom management from focusing on teacher authoritative control to more student-centered pedagogy with an emphasis on learning. A principle of Kounin's classroom management still prevalent today is that teachers can be proactive in preventing misbehaviors in students rather than reactive. There was not another major shift in classroom management research until the early 2000s as diversity among students increased in the United States and put a spotlight on the cultural responsiveness of teachers. Along with this shift, an emphasis on how experiences shape cognitive development emerged and set the stage for trauma-informed education. This provided guiding principles for educators including ensuring safety, establishing trustworthiness, maximizing choice, maximizing collaboration, and prioritizing empowerment (Harris & Fallot, 2001). These concepts evolved into an emphasis on social-emotional learning (SEL) principles as research demonstrated the importance of positive teacher-student relationships and supportive environments for learning (Jennings & Greenberg, 2009; Marzano & Marzano, 2003). Empirical research in classroom management tends to focus on behavior management strategies (Aasheim

et al., 2020) or teachers' self-efficacy and the impact on burnout or stress (Aloe et al., 2014). A longitudinal study showed teachers' classroom management self-efficacy positively related to aspects of their perceived classroom management and that "neglecting context in investigations of how self-efficacy may impact teaching behaviors over time could mask important relationships" (Lazarides et al., 2020).

The challenge in today's changing demographics of K-12 students is the implication of the answers to the following questions about the long-held definition of classroom management with its emphasis on disruptive behavior: Who gets to define what counts as disruptive? At what point are the adults assessed for their part in causing the student to become disruptive? And who decides what the consequences are for the students deemed "disruptive? The answers to these questions will only come from continued dialogue between researchers and practitioners. This dialogue must address the philosophies we hold about child development and the systemic realities built into the fabric of our traditional institutions. Modern understandings of neurodevelopment, diversity, equity, and inclusion must be incorporated into this conversation (Venet, 2021). As the dialogue develops through continued empirical research on these topics, it is also essential to ask ourselves whose voices are missing from the conversations so that we avoid the echo chamber we so easily find ourselves in while doing this critical work. It is important to understand the implications of teachers' classroom management self-efficacy on students' long-term learning, especially when the demographics of schools include a wide variety of academic, economic, linguistic, and ethnic differences (Berry et al., 2019).

#### **Cultural Competence and Classroom Management Self-Efficacy**

Research is being conducted at the intersection of culturally responsive pedagogy and classroom management self-efficacy (Callaway, 2017; Weinstein et al., 2003). Lois Weiner (2003) describes two frameworks through which classroom management has historically been

researched to analyze academic challenges of students in urban schools. First is the deficit paradigm of classroom management which accredits challenges in behavior to a problem lying within students, their home lives, or their communities (McKay & Devlin, 2016). The second paradigm focuses on attributing the problems with management to deficiencies of individual teachers (Brophy, 1979). In contrast to these two frameworks, Weiner (2003) suggests researchers use a contextualized, multidimensional lens to understand the factors within school settings and society that influence the actions and perceptions of students and teachers in urban settings. Weiner states "teachers who are culturally different from their students have a greater challenge in creating a trusting classroom environment" (p. 308). Weiner's research references culturally relevant teaching and the practice of "reframing" deficit language when working with preservice teachers to increase their ability to see student behaviors through an alternate, positive lens.

#### Effects of Culturally Responsive Teaching on Classroom Management

Findings at the intersection of cultural competence and classroom management self-efficacy suggest that teachers are not necessarily competent in instruction unless specifically trained in cultural competency (Bentley-Edwards et al., 2020). Callaway (2017) conducted a study examining how teacher efficacy impacts culturally responsive teaching and classroom management. The results of the study determined that there was a positive relationship between culturally responsive teaching and teacher's self-efficacy, as well as a moderate statistically significant relationship between classroom management and instructional strategies. A correlational survey study conducted on 274 preschool teachers examined the relationship between the teachers' self-efficacy belief levels and their classroom management skills and found a moderate, positive relationship with the variables of teacher's length of experience, type

of school, and number of children in the class as predictor variables (Bay, 2020). Teachers in an additional study with strong self-efficacy perceptions tended to use more organized instructional strategies than those with low self-efficacy belief and classroom management skills and maintained more supportive learning environments for students (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). Considering the positive effects of teacher's self-efficacy on classroom management and the positive impact of culturally responsive teaching, it is the aim of this study to add to the empirical research on the relationship between teachers' cultural competency and classroom management self-efficacy.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

While researching the variables of teachers' classroom management and cultural responsiveness, two theories emerged in empirical research. Bandura's (1977) Self-efficacy Theory and Critical Race Theory (CRT) work together to inform teachers' cultural responsiveness in instructional decision making (Aloe et al., 2014; Bazemore-Bertrand & Porcher, 2020). Although race is a tenant of CRT, the theory has expanded into the intersection of diverse identity traits that influences the makeup of a person's culture and background experiences.

#### Self-Efficacy Theory

The key teacher quality consistently tied to student achievement is the teacher's own internal belief in influencing student outcomes (Guskey, 1987). This belief stems from the underlying theoretical framework of Albert Bandura's (1977) Self-Efficacy Theory (SET). The theory posits that a person's belief about the impact one can make in a given situation is a key factor resulting in behavioral change.

Researchers focused on behaviorism for much of the 19<sup>th</sup> century as external behaviors seemed to be influenced by external awards and punishments. As researchers learned more about the way humans interact and the impact social experiences have on behavior, the Social Cognitive Theory emerged (Bandura, 1989). This theory moved researchers to examine internal thought processes and the ways perceptions are formed based on feedback from others. This perception of the level of belief a person has about his/her ability to influence outcomes was termed "self-efficacy." Self-efficacy has been further researched in various domains over the years with a focus in education on a teacher's self-efficacy and the impact on student outcomes (Guskey, 1987).

A teacher's self-efficacy consistently remains a determinant of student success in current studies (Kim & Seo, 2018). Bandura (1989) asserts that cultural context impacts individuals' perception from four sources of information: mastery experiences, vicarious experiences (observing and modeling experiences), personal feedback, and affective emotional reactions. The theory situates self-efficacy as a measure of persistence "in the face of obstacles and aversive experiences" (p. 194). Research on the factors contributing to the development of self-efficacy in teachers is limited (Klassen & Chiu, 2011). A study by Pfizner-Eden (2016) introduced an assessment to determine what contribution each of the four sources of self-efficacy made toward its development in German preservice teachers. Results indicate mastery experiences to be a significant predictor.

As teachers' understanding of cultural differences in the classroom impact the teacher-to-student and student-to-student interactions, it is important to view a teacher's understanding of self-efficacy considering his/her cultural competence. Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) built upon Bandura's teacher self-efficacy work and developed a way to measure this

variable. They stated in their conclusions, "In these days of hard-nosed accountability teachers' sense of efficacy is an idea that neither researchers nor practitioners can afford to ignore" (p. 803).

#### Critical Race Theory

As mentioned, self-efficacy is impacted by cultural context (Bandura, 1989).

"Competence precedes confidence" is a common adage used in education, but it is important for teachers to consider how to build experiences for learning that tap into the strengths students bring from their backgrounds. A theory that espouses the strengths versus deficits view of culture through race is Critical Race Theory (CRT). The underlying tenants of CRT can assist teachers in understanding the cultural contextual differences they have with their students and the disparities that this cultural "gap" can cause in educational outcomes (Ladson-Billings, 2006).

This understanding of systemic issues in education can inform teachers as they apply the research to reach the diverse needs of their students (Bazemore-Bertrand & Porcher, 2020).

In the 1930s "critical theory" was established in academia as an approach for critiquing society through its use of power structures, shifting the focus away from individuals (Bohman, 2021). The theory provided insights into the relationship between power and hidden practices that have legal and practical consequences. Civil rights activists and legal scholars brought more attention to the theory in the 1970s as more subtle forms of racism increased in society. In 1989, Kimberlé Crenshaw coined the term "Critical Race Theory" to bring attention to the role race plays in the legal system. The major principles of CRT include the idea that racism is ordinary, that people considered White have privileges over people in historically marginalized race groups, and that there is intersectionality of identity characteristics (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017).

Intersectionality is a term referring to a person's identity being made up of many characteristics such as gender identity, socioeconomic status, faith traditions, home language, dis/ability, and sexual orientation among others. Analyzing data with a lens of intersectionality can help reveal potential issues. For example, researchers in one school district found that in one school year, Black boys were suspended at 3 times the rate of white boys; however, black girls were suspended at a rate of 6 times than that of white girls (Crenshaw et al., 2015). Empowering teachers with data reflecting the unique realities of the impact of intersectionality helps teaching practices become responsive to the holistic needs of all students (Waitoller et al., 2016). Differing characteristics of identity often determine what power or privilege is afforded a person depending on the context of the situation.

A few years ago, CRT was relegated to legal and academic realms, but it has since made its way into headlines as a politically divisive topic resulting in certain state legislators passing bills to ban it from K-12 settings. CRT scholarship sought to bring to light continued discriminatory practices embedded in policies in various sectors of the United States, but it has now become a catch all phrase for legislators banning anything in curriculum related to race, social justice, or the teaching of the history of enslaved people (Sawchuck, 2021). It is important to note that CRT is not taught in K-12 public schools, but it is a theoretical framework that can help educators critically analyze systems regarding inequities present in classrooms (Ladson-Billings & Tate, 1995).

Recognizing the gaps in the majority White teacher population's understanding of cultural context is a step towards culturally responsive teaching. Race is only one facet of "culture"; however, using a CRT lens opens the conversation into examining practices for other implications of intersectionality. When teachers understand the inequities persisting in our

systems and their impact on students' academic and social outcomes, they develop a sense of empowerment. Gaining knowledge and changing practices to meet students' needs instead of dismissing them as "cultural differences" builds relationships and the self-efficacy needed to persist in teaching diverse learners (Ladson-Billings, 2006).

#### **Hypothesis**

As the changing demographics of public schools shifts toward an even more pronounced "divide" in the cultural backgrounds of the teachers and the students they serve, it becomes critical that educators and those that prepare future teachers understand the underlying factors for teacher effectiveness and their impact on student achievement. As classroom management is consistently reflected in the literature as a major factor in teacher attrition, stress, and depersonalization of instruction (Aloe et al., 2014) it is important for teacher educators to provide practice of the most effective management skills to empower future and current educators. Gay (2013) states, "access to knowledge about culturally responsive teaching...might increase teachers' confidence and competence about implementing it in their own classrooms" (p. 60). Teachers that can interpret students' behaviors as developmentally appropriate expressions of need are most effective in providing a culturally responsive classroom environment (Hammond, 2018). My hypothesis that emerges from research is that the greater the degree of a teacher's cultural competence, the greater the degree of a teacher's classroom management self-efficacy (Choi & Lee, 2020). To explore my hypothesis, the following research question was constructed:

What is the relationship between a teacher's perceived cultural competence and classroom management self-efficacy?

#### **Summary**

The language around culture in classrooms has evolved over the last few decades in the United States as schools became racially integrated and engaged in persistent problem solving to remove barriers to learning present in K-12 classrooms. Educators need training in recognizing student behaviors as expressed needs rather than "misbehaviors" which leads to suspension and expulsion and aids in the "cradle to prison pipeline" (Milner, 2012; Souers & Hall, 2018). It is intended that this study will make contributions to the research and literature regarding the need for increasing cultural competency in preservice teachers' educator preparation programs (EPPs), justification for reframing "classroom management" from managing student behaviors to an equity-based lens using teachers' and students' strengths rather than a deficit lens, and ultimately improving K-12 students' learning and achievement.

It is critical for Arkansas teacher preparation programs and educators' professional development to reflect what the data indicate: Educators must be prepared to interact and support students' diversity of needs in a culturally responsive manner to avoid placing students in a system built to punish rather than to heal and teach children the skills needed to manage their own behavior.

#### **Chapter 3: Methods**

The purpose of this quantitative study is to examine K-6 teachers' cultural competency and its relationship to classroom management self-efficacy. Using multiple regression will provide statistics that can help define the relationship between the outcome variable (classroom management self-efficacy) and the independent variable (cultural competency) in this study. Multiple regression allows for the consideration of multiple independent variables that could affect the dependent variable. This method allows examination of the strength of the relationship between classroom management self-efficacy and cultural competency while controlling for additional independent variables. The control variables for this study are the teacher's years of experience and the teacher's race/ethnicity. In this chapter I will introduce the methodology for my study including the research questions, hypotheses, methods for selecting the study setting, selection of participants, data collection, and the threats to internal and external validity.

#### **Study Design**

Data on variables derived from the literature on the impact of cultural competency readiness on teachers' classroom management self-efficacy will be collected from K-6 teachers. An electronic survey will be sent to teachers that includes Likert-type questions from valid and reliable measurement assessments for the independent variable of cultural competency and the dependent variable of classroom management self-efficacy (See Appendix A and B). Control variables emerged from the literature review that could influence a teacher's classroom management self-efficacy: years of teaching experience and race/ethnicity. These variables will be reported by the participants in demographic questions included in the survey. The study will be deployed during a three-week period prior to the fall semester and concluding the week teachers return for their districts' professional development.

#### **Research Question and Hypothesis**

This study is designed around a research question related to the predictors of classroom management self-efficacy in K-6 educators in Northwest Arkansas. To explore this relationship, a cross-sectional multiple linear regression model will be used. In multiple regression all predictor variables are included in the equation, or model, that will be analyzed. The categorical variables will be dummy coded in order to use the data in the regression analysis. Regression treats the categories of being high or low based on the "1" or "0" that defines each category. Leaving out one category, as the reference, allows information to not be redundant in the regression output. Interpretation of results for the categories with a dummy code of "1" would be made in reference to the category left out of the dummy coding (Roberts & Roberts, 2021). For example, the control variable of a teacher's race/ethnicity would be coded with those choosing a race/ethnicity other than the reference category as a "1" while the reference category of "white" would be a "0". The variables for this study are delineated in Table 1.

**Table 1**Operationalized Variables

Variable	Variable Name	Variable Type
Dependent Variable	Classroom Management Self-Efficacy Score	Continuous, sum scores: 12-108
Independent Variable	"CULTURAL" Multicultural Competence Readiness Score	Continuous, sum scores: 16-96
Control Variable	"YEARS" Teaching Experience	Continuous, total: 1+
Control Variable	Race/ethnicity: "AMERICAN INDIAN" = American Indian or Alaska Native "ASIAN" = Asian "BLACK" = Black or African American "HISPANIC" = Hispanic (or Latino or Spanish descent)	Categorical: Dummy Coding *White is the reference category

# "NATIVE HAWAIIAN" = Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander

To reiterate, the research question guiding this study is:

What is the relationship between a teacher's perceived cultural competence and classroom management self-efficacy after controlling for the teacher's years of experience and race/ethnicity?

The substantive hypothesis for the research question is:

• Hypothesis: The greater the degree of a teacher's cultural competence, the greater the degree of a teacher's classroom management self-efficacy.

This hypothesis can be expressed mathematically as:

•  $(H_0: b_1 = 0; H_1: b_1 \neq 0)$ 

For multiple regression, there must be two or more predictor variables examined in each model. A model is what determines the line that best fits the data on a scatterplot that minimizes the variance of each of the predictor variables (X) as they relate to the dependent variable (Y). The best fit is a linear line that is the best approximation of the data set. The greater the dispersion of the error's variance, the less likely the independent variables are found to have a significant effect on the dependent variable. The use of multiple regression will determine the overall fit of the model in relation to the contribution to each of the predictors to explain the total variance (Roberts & Roberts, 2021). Using multiple regression allows for variables to be added to the model which provides the strength of each variable on the dependent variable. If there is not a good fit, it usually means the model is missing an important variable (X) that would help predict the dependent variable (Y).

The model used to answer the research question is expressed mathematically:

Model:  $Y = b0 + b1X_{CULTURAL} + b2X_{YEARS} + b3X_{AMERICAN INDIAN} + b4X_{ASIAN} + b5X_{BLACK} + b6X_{HISPANIC} + b7X_{NATIVE HAWAIIAN}$ 

Research points to context of a teacher's environment as influencing self-efficacy (Ladson-Billings, 2006). The model will provide information on the relationship between the variable of a teacher's cultural competence readiness, after controlling for years of experience and race/ethnicity, on the dependent variable of classroom management self-efficacy. The model will account for all independent variables to determine if there is a statistically significant amount of variance in the dependent variable of classroom management self-efficacy.

#### **Study Setting**

Data will be collected from teachers in Northwest Arkansas to make inferences about this demographic and setting. The Educator Preparation Program for the University of Arkansas places teacher candidates in the schools around Northwest Arkansas as it is convenient for students to travel from courses held on campus to their field-based sites. The Office of Teacher Education (2022) at the University of Arkansas reported 771 teacher candidate placements across 50 school buildings in Northwest Arkansas for the 2021-2022 school year. This area of the south-central United States is considered an "urban characteristic" area since the demographics have undergone drastic ethnic and linguistic change in the last 20 years (Milner et al., 2018). According to the Northwest Arkansas Council (2021), in 1990, 95.82% of the population was white while the Hispanic/Latino population was 1.3%. It is projected for 2022 that 69.5% of the population will be white, while the Hispanic/Latino population will be 17.9%. Two of the largest school districts in Northwest Arkansas reflect the national trend of having the majority of their population be students of color (Northwest Arkansas Council, 2021). One of the largest cities in Northwest Arkansas (population: 50,061) increased its Asian Indian population by 239% over

the span of ten years (Northwest Arkansas Council, 2021). The rapidly changing population in this area where teacher candidates are placed to learn from their mentor teachers makes this an important area to study to potentially inform decisions in educator preparation programs.

#### **Participants and Placement**

Participants for this study are the roughly 1,800 K-6 certified teachers in Northwest Arkansas (U.S. News & World Report, n.d.). Survey data will be provided by participants through non-probability sampling method. The method of sampling will be through voluntary response and snowball sampling. Principals of school districts will be emailed the IRB approval, description of the study, and the Qualtrics link that they will be asked to send to their faculty to encourage participation. Teachers will volunteer to respond and be encouraged to send the survey on to colleagues by a statement at the end of the survey.

Sample size for this study was determined through GPower statistical software (Faul et al., 2007). It was determined with predictor variables (cultural competency score, dummy coded race/ethnicity, and teacher's years of experience) for multiple regression using F-tests for a general linear model, a sample size of 98 participants would be needed to detect a moderate effect size of 0.15 with a significance criterion alpha level set at .05 which is commonly used in educational research (Leahey, 2005). Working with area school districts and principals, the response number is obtainable. Teachers' demographic data for Arkansas is reported for all certified teachers and is not disaggregated by grade level bands. According to Arkansas Department of Education (2022) the racial makeup of teachers in Northwest Arkansas is consistent with the rest of the state with 87.9% white, 0.4% Asian, 9.1% Black/African American, 1.6% Hispanic, 0.5% Native American/Alaskan Native, 0.1% Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, 0.3% reporting as 2 or more races. Most teachers report being

between 41-45 years old; however, the majority of teachers in each racial group have less than 3 years of experience teaching with the exceptions of the 2 or more races and the Native American/Alaska Native groups with an average of 10 years of teaching experience each.

#### **Materials**

The survey instrument will be a combination of data collection tools including the Multicultural Teaching Competency Scale (MTCS) which will be used to determine a score for each participant's cultural competence readiness (See Appendix A). The MTCS is a 16 item self-assessment for teachers and was found to have a high reliability rate of .88 in a Cronbach's alpha statistical test and a significant positive correlation (r = .51) with the Teacher's Multicultural Awareness Survey (Spanierman et al., 2011). A participant scoring high on the MTCS would indicate a higher cultural competence; it is to be noted that several questions are written in reverse scoring language. The self-assessment reflects three dimensions of multicultural teaching: awareness, knowledge, and skills, with a teacher's sum score falling between 16-96.

The short form version of the Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES) will be used to determine the score for a teacher's classroom management self-efficacy (See Appendix B). The TSES includes twelve items representing three factors of efficacy (instruction, management, and engagement) and it is considered valid and reliable compared to other surveys attempting to assess classroom management self-efficacy with an alpha reliability rate of .90 and validity accounting for 61% of the variance (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). This instrument is particularly suited for my study since it addresses previous s in assessing classroom management by including items regarding instructional strategies and student engagement rather than a focus on overcoming student disruptions. A teacher's sum of scores obtained can be between 12-108. In addition to the MTCS and the TSES, demographical questions will be

included for this study pertaining to the participant and the participant's teaching setting (See Appendix C).

#### Measures

#### Dependent Variable: Classroom Management Self-Efficacy

Classroom management self-efficacy as the dependent variable will be measured by self-reported responses to the short version form of the TSES. The TSES is designed for teachers to respond to statements such as "How much can you do to control disruptive behavior in the classroom?" and "How much can you do to help your students value learning?" on a 9-point Likert scale ranging from *none at all* (1), *some degree* (5) to *a great deal* (9). As the TSES focuses on teachers' own sense of self-efficacy around instruction, engagement, and management, it is an appropriate measure of the aspect of a teacher's classroom management as conceptualized for this study.

#### Independent Variable: Cultural Competency Readiness

Cultural competency readiness is conceptually defined for this study as how adept teachers are in their knowledge about students' diverse backgrounds and needs that are most often different than their own (Harmon, 2012). Operationally, this variable will be measured by teachers' self-reporting their responses on the MTCS. The MTCS asks participants to rate their 16 responses using a 6-point Likert-type scale, *strongly disagree* to *strongly agree* for statements such as, "I understand the various communication styles among different racial and ethnic minority students in my classroom" and "I rarely examine the instructional materials I use in the classroom for racial or ethnic bias". The MTCS is an appropriate measure for this study that reflects current research for the need to reimagine classroom management away from a focus on

preventing disruptive behaviors and toward culturally responsive instruction (La Salle et al., 2020; Milner et al., 2018; Venet, 2021).

#### Control Variables: Years of Teaching, Race/Ethnicity

Control variables were selected based on research that suggests context can influence students' behavior resulting in changes in teachers' self-efficacy (Bandura, 1977; Ladson-Billings, 2006). According to the literature, years of teaching experience has been found to influence classroom management self-efficacy (Klassen & Chiu, 2011). The control variable years of experience teaching will be self-reported as a continuous variable. Race/ethnicity will be a categorical variable: American Indian or Alaska Native, Asian, Black or African American, Hispanic (or Latino or Spanish descent), Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, or White

#### **Data Collection**

After approval is received from the University of Arkansas Institutional Review Board, I will collect data electronically using the University of Arkansas' Qualtrics software to deploy the survey beginning August 1 as teachers begin planning for the upcoming school year and attend a week of professional development prior to the first day of school. K-6 principals in Northwest Arkansas will be contacted through email to ask for their assistance in encouraging their classroom teachers to complete the survey as a contribution to educational research (See Appendix D). The email will include the purpose of the study, the IRB approval, and the Qualtrics link to the survey. At the end of the survey a separate link will take participants to a Google form to complete if they wish to be entered for a chance at winning one of three \$20.00 Amazon gift cards. The amount for each card was determined by rounding up to the hourly wage based on the average teaching salary for Northwest Arkansas certified teachers (Salary.com, 2022). The separate form will ensure participant data will not be tied to survey responses.

Principals will be sent a reminder email two weeks after the initial email is sent to encourage participation. Social media will be used to distribute the research request to reach more Northwest Arkansas teachers and serve as a reminder to complete the survey. Data will be kept secure in a password protected file and anonymity will be ensured through participant ID numbers associated with participant surveys.

### **Data Analysis**

Descriptive and inferential statistics will be used to analyze the data collected from participants. The analysis of the descriptive statistics regarding participant demographic information will provide context for the sample and could provide confirmation of the trends observed nationwide for teacher demographics (Schaeffer, 2021). Inferential statistics will be used for this study using multiple regression in order to analyze the results from the electronic survey to test the hypothesis. Multiple regression is a statistical test to determine the relationship between two or more variables and the dependent variable. To reject the null hypothesis, which states that there is not a relationship between the independent variables and the dependent variable, the p-value must be less than the significance level of 0.05. A p-value greater than 0.05 indicates that the null hypothesis is not significant and cannot be rejected. This statistical method will provide a regression coefficient which gives the expected increase of the dependent variable when the independent variable increases by one while holding the other independent variables constant (Hoy & Adams, 2016). The coefficients give the estimated magnitude and direction, either positive or negative, between each independent variable and the dependent variable. The F-statistic will be used to determine if the coefficients in the model are significant. The R <sup>2</sup> will be used to determine how much of the variance found in the dependent variable is explained by the combination of the independent variables in the model (Field, 2018).

There are eight assumptions that must be checked in order to carry out multiple regression on the data collected. Two assumptions have already been met for this study since the dependent variable is measured on a continuous scale and there are two or more independent variables. The remaining assumptions will be checked after data is collected. The assumption of independence of observations (or residuals) can be checked by using data collection software to ensure only using each participant's results one time. Scatterplots created using IBM developed SPSS software version 28, will confirm the assumption that there is a linear relationship between variables and the assumption that the variance of residuals are homoscedastic (the variability in scores for the independent variables is the same at all values for the dependent variables). Scatterplots can also confirm that there are no significant outliers and examining a Q-Q plot will show that the residuals are normally distributed (the residuals should be in a fairly straight line.) The final assumption to check is that of multicollinearity to ensure that the independent variables are not too correlated with each other. The Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) provides values through SPSS, if they are lower than 10 it indicates that the variables do not have issues with multicollinearity. If all assumptions are met, a correlational multiple regression method of analysis using the output from SPSS would be the appropriate research approach for the crosssectional survey data (Field, 2018).

#### **Internal and External Validity**

As this study is designed to have participants respond by self-reporting data through a survey, a threat to internal validity would be response bias of social desirability which could influence the reliability of the results. This type of response bias is when participants consciously or subconsciously respond the way they believe would be more socially acceptable and overreport the behaviors that are deemed more positive. I will address this threat by stressing

anonymity in the survey instructions and ensuring that no personally identifiable information will be linked to survey responses. I will also emphasize that honest answers will help inform future educators in decision making around classroom management and culturally responsive education. An additional threat to internal validity is omitted variable bias. A potential additional variable may not be included that could influence the relationship between the independent and dependent variables. This could lead to biased estimates in the results of the data analysis if an unidentified variable is left out of the model. To address this potential threat, deriving the variables through theoretical reasoning based on research was used. The variables will be included in the multiple regression models which will provide each variable's unique contribution of variance on the dependent variable.

A threat to external validity is that the sample demographics of the population are unique to the setting of the study. Graduates from the researcher's university are readily hired as K-6 teachers in the setting for the study which may inhibit the generalizability of the results to those that graduated from different Educator Preparation Programs (EPP). Replications of this study in differing geographical locations would increase generalizability to other settings. Non-response bias is also a threat to external validity in that those participants choosing to participate in the survey may inherently be more self-efficacious than those choosing not to participate. To mitigate this thread on the study's external validity, the survey is as short and accessible as possible and can be completed within 5 minutes on a mobile device. Clear and detailed instructions will precede the survey.

#### **Summary**

This chapter presented the methods to carry out the study including the setting participants, materials for data collection, plan for data analysis and possible threats to validity.

Examining the control variables of years of teaching experience, and the teacher's race/ethnicity can determine the influence of cultural competence on a teacher's classroom management self-efficacy. Using multiple regression for this study will provide needed empirical research and insight into the relationship between teachers' cultural competence and classroom management self-efficacy.

#### References

- Aasheim, M., Fossum, S., Reedtz, C., Handegård, B. H., & Martinussen, M. (2020). Examining the incredible years teacher classroom management program in a regular Norwegian school setting: Teacher-reported behavior management practice, problem behavior in classroom and school environment, teacher self-and collective efficacy, and classroom climate. *SAGE Open*, 10(2).
- Aloe, A. M., Amo, L. C., & Shanahan, M. E. (2014). Classroom management self-efficacy and burnout: A multivariate meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 26(1), 101-126.
- Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Bremner, J. D., Walker, J. D., Whitfield, C. H., Perry, B. D., ... & Giles, W. H. (2006). The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse experiences in childhood. *European archives of psychiatry and clinical neuroscience*, 256(3), 174-186.
- Balfanz, R., & Fox, J. (2014). Sent home and put off-track: The antecedents, disproportionalities, and consequences of being suspended in the ninth grade. *Journal of Applied Research on Children: Policy for Children at Risk*, 5(2), 13.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191.
- Bandura, A. (1989). Human agency in social cognitive theory. *American Psychologist*, 44(9), 1175.
- Banks, J. A. (1995). Multicultural education and curriculum transformation. *Journal of Negro Education*, 390-400.
- Banks, J. A. (2014). An introduction to multicultural education. Pearson.
- Barrett, J., Jones, G., Mooney, E., Thornton, C., Cady, J., Guinee, P., & Olson, J. (2002). Working with novice teachers: Challenges for professional development. *Mathematics Teacher Education and Development*, 4(2002), 15-27.
- Bay, D. N. (2020). Investigation of the relationship between self-efficacy beliefs and classroom management skills of pre-school teachers. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 12(4), 335-348.
- Bazemore-Bertrand, S. K., & Porcher, K. (2020). Teacher educators as disruptors redesigning courses in teacher preparation programs to prepare white preservice teachers. *Journal of Culture and Values in Education*, *3*(1), 72-88.
- Belanger, K., Benson, W., Borders, T., Dalton, K., Emanuel-McClain, C., Evans, K., Fabre, B., & Greer, C. (2018). *Exploring the rural context for adverse childhood experiences* (ACEs) [Policy brief]. National Advisory Committee on Rural Health and Human

- $Services. \underline{https://www.pacesconnection.com/fileSendAction/fcType/0/fcOid/48010556922} \underline{5370402/filePointer/480246307005517131/fodoid/480246307005517127/Rural-Context-for-ACEs-August2018.pdf$
- Bentley-Edwards, K. L., Stevenson, H. C., Thomas, D. E., Adams-Bass, V. N., & Coleman-King, C. (2020). Teaching scared: Pre-service teacher appraisals of racial stress, socialization, and classroom management self-efficacy. *Social Psychology of Education*, 23(5), 1233-1257.
- Berger, J. L., Girardet, C., Vaudroz, C., & Crahay, M. (2018). Teaching experience, teachers' beliefs, and self-reported classroom management practices: A coherent network. *SAGE Open*, 8(1), <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244017754119">https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244017754119</a>
- Berry, J. R., Moss, S. C., & Gore, P. (2019). Leadership in high-needs/high performing schools. In *Educational leadership, culture, and success in high-need schools.* (pp. 131-148).
- Billingsley, B. S. (2004). Special education teacher retention and attrition: A critical analysis of the research literature. *The Journal of Special Education*, *38*(1), 39-55.
- Bohman, J. (2021). Critical theory. In E.N. Zalta (Ed.), *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. <a href="https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/critical-theory/">https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/critical-theory/</a>
- Bottiani, J. H., Bradshaw, C. P., & Gregory, A. (2018). Nudging the gap: Introduction to the special issue "closing in on discipline disproportionality". *School Psychology Review*, 47(2), 109-117.
- Brophy, J. E. (1979). Teacher behavior and its effects. *Journal of Educational psychology*, 71(6), 733.
- Council for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation. (2020). *Glossary*. <a href="http://caepnet.org/glossary?letter=E">http://caepnet.org/glossary?letter=E</a>
- Çakmak, M., Gündüz, M., & Emstad, A. B. (2019). Challenging moments of novice teachers: Survival strategies developed through experiences. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 49(2), 147-162.
- Callaway, Roberta F. (2017) A correlational study of teacher efficacy and culturally responsive teaching techniques in a southeastern urban school district. *Journal of Organizational & Educational Leadership*, 2(2).
- Camangian, P., & Cariaga, S. (2021). Social and emotional learning is hegemonic miseducation: Students deserve humanization instead. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 1-21.
- Center for Public Education. (2016). *Educational equity: What does it mean? How do we know when we reach it?* [Research Brief]. <a href="https://www.nsba.org/-/media/NSBA/File/cpe-educational-equity-research-brief-january-2016.pdf">https://www.nsba.org/-/media/NSBA/File/cpe-educational-equity-research-brief-january-2016.pdf</a>

- Chambers Mack, J., Johnson, A., Jones-Rincon, A., Tsatenawa, V., & Howard, K. (2019). Why do teachers leave? A comprehensive occupational health study evaluating intent-to-quit in public school teachers. *Journal of Applied Biobehavioral Research*, 24(1).
- Choi, S., & Lee, S. W. (2020). Enhancing teacher Self-Efficacy in multicultural classrooms and school climate: The role of professional development in multicultural education in the United States and South Korea. *AERA Open*, 6(4), 2332858420973574.
- Corkett, J., Hatt, B., & Benevides, T. (2011). Student and teacher self-efficacy and the connection to reading and writing. *Canadian Journal of Education*, 34(1), 65-98.
- Cormier, D. R. (2021). Assessing preservice teachers' cultural competence with the cultural proficiency continuum Q-sort. *Educational Researcher*, 50(1), 17-29.
- Crenshaw, K. W., Ocen, P., & Nanda, J. (2015). *Black girls matter: Pushed out, overpoliced and Underprotected*. African American Policy Forum. https://scholarship.law.columbia.edu/faculty\_scholarship/3227
- Delale-O'Connor, L. A., Alvarez, A. J., Murray, I. E., & Milner, IV, H. R. (2017). Self-efficacy beliefs, classroom management, and the cradle-to-prison pipeline. *Theory Into Practice*, *56*(3), 178-186.
- Delgado, R., & Stefancic, J. (2017). Critical race theory (3<sup>rd</sup> Ed.). New York University Press.
- Duane, A., Casimir, A. E., Mims, L. C., Kaler-Jones, C., & Simmons, D. (2021). Beyond deep breathing: A new vision for equitable, culturally responsive, and trauma-informed mindfulness practice. *Middle School Journal*, 52(3), 4-14.
- Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., & Schellinger, K. B. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. *Child development*, 82(1), 405-432.
- Egalite, A. J., & Kisida, B. (2018). The effects of teacher match on students' academic perceptions and attitudes. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 40(1), 59-81.
- Eisenman, G., Edwards, S., & Cushman, C. A. (2015). Bringing reality to classroom management in teacher education. *Professional Educator*, 39(1).
- Evertson, C. M., & Emmer, E. T. (2022). *Classroom management for elementary teachers (10)*. Pearson.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G. & Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175-191.
- Field, A. (2018). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics: North American edition. Sage.

- Ford, D. Y. (2010). Underrepresentation of culturally different students in gifted education: Reflections about current problems and recommendations for the future. *Gifted Child Today*, 33(3), 31-35.
- Gay, G. (2013). Teaching to and through cultural diversity. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 43(1), 48-70.
- Guskey, T. R. (1987). Context variables that affect measures of teacher efficacy. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 81(1), 41-47.
- Haberman, M. (2005). Teacher burnout in black and white. The New Educator, 1(3), 153-175.
- Hammond, Z. (2018). Culturally responsive teaching puts rigor at the center: Q&A with Zaretta Hammond. *Learning Professional*, 39(5), 40-43.
- Harmon, D. (2012) Teaching though a historical lens: Will history repeat itself? *Interdisciplinary Journal of Teaching and Learning*, 2(1), 12-22.
- Harris, M., & Fallot, R. D. (2001). Envisioning a trauma-informed service system: a vital paradigm shift. *New directions for mental health services*, 2001(89), 3-22.
- Hattie, J.A.C. (2003, October). *Teachers make a difference: What is the research evidence?* [Paper presentation]. Australian Council for Educational Research Conference, Melbourne, Australia. <a href="http://research.acer.edu.au/research\_conference\_2003/4/">http://research.acer.edu.au/research\_conference\_2003/4/</a>
- Hayes, C., & Fasching-Varner, K. J. (2015). Racism 2.0 and the death of social and cultural foundations of education: A critical conversation. *Educational Foundations*, 28, 103-119.
- He, Y. (2013). Developing teachers' cultural competence: Application of appreciative inquiry in ESL teacher education. *Teacher Development*, *17*(1), 55–71. https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2012.753944
- Hirschberger, G. (2018). Collective trauma and the social construction of meaning. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 1441. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01441
- Hoy, W. K., & Adams, C. M. (2016). *Quantitative research in education: A primer*. Sage Publications.
- Jennings, P. A., & Greenberg, M. T. (2009). The prosocial classroom: Teacher social and emotional competence in relation to student and classroom outcomes. *Review of educational research*, 79(1), 491-525.
- Jones, A. (2018, December). *Correctional control 2018: Incarceration and supervision by state* [Press release]. <a href="https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/correctionalcontrol2018.html">https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/correctionalcontrol2018.html</a>
- Kahn, L. G., Lindstrom, L., & Murray, C. (2014). Factors contributing to preservice teachers' beliefs about diversity. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 41(4), 53-70.

- Khalifa, M. A., & Gooden, M. A., Davis, J.E. (2016). Culturally responsive school leadership: A synthesis of the literature. Review of Educational Research.
- Kim, K. R., & Seo, E. H. (2018). The relationship between teacher efficacy and students' academic achievement: A meta-analysis. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 46(4), 529-540.
- Klassen, R. M., & Chiu, M. M. (2011). The occupational commitment and intention to quit of practicing and pre-service teachers: Influence of self-efficacy, job stress, and teaching context. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 36(2), 114-129.
- Kounin, J. S. (1970). *Discipline and group management in classrooms*. Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1995). Toward a theory of culturally relevant pedagogy. *American Educational Research Journal*, 32(3), 465-491.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2006). It's not the culture of poverty, it's the poverty of culture: The problem with teacher education. *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, 37(2), 104-109.
- Ladson-Billings, G., & Tate, W. F. (1995). Toward a critical race theory of education. *Teachers College Record*, *97*(1), 47-68.
- La Salle, T. P., Wang, C., Wu, C., & Rocha Neves, J. (2020). Racial mismatch among minoritized students and white teachers: Implications and recommendations for moving forward. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, 30(3), 314-343.
- Lazarides, R., Watt, H. M., & Richardson, P. W. (2020). Teachers' classroom management self-efficacy, perceived classroom management and teaching contexts from beginning until mid-career. *Learning and Instruction*, 69, 101346.
- Leahey, E. (2005). Alphas and asterisks: The development of statistical significance testing standards in sociology. *Social Forces*, 84(1), 1-24.
- Marchbanks III, M. P., Blake, J. J., Smith, D., Seibert, A. L., Carmichael, D., Booth, E. A., & Fabelo, T. (2014). More than a drop in the bucket: The social and economic costs of dropouts and grade retentions associated with exclusionary discipline. *Journal of Applied Research on Children: Informing Policy for Children at Risk*, 5(2), 17.
- Martin, L. D. (2021). Reconceptualizing classroom management in the ensemble: Considering culture, communication, and community. *Music Educators Journal*, 107(4), 21-27.
- Martin, N. K., Schafer, N. J., McClowry, S., Emmer, E. T., Brekelmans, M., Mainhard, T., & Wubbels, T. (2016). Expanding the definition of classroom management: Recurring themes and new conceptualizations. *Journal of Classroom Interaction*, 31-41.

- Marzano, R. J., & Marzano, J. S. (2003). The key to classroom management. *Educational Leadership*, 61(1), 6-13.
- McKay, J., & Devlin, M. (2016). 'Low income doesn't mean stupid and destined for failure': Challenging the deficit discourse around students from low SES backgrounds in higher education. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 20(4), 347-363.
- Mette, I. M., Nieuwenhuizen, L., & Hvidston, D. J. (2016). Teachers' perceptions of culturally responsive pedagogy and the impact on leadership preparation: Lessons for future reform efforts. *International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation*, 11(1).
- Milner, H. R. (2012). But what is urban education? Urban Education, 47(3), 556-561.
- Milner IV, H. R., Cunningham, H. B., Delale-O'Connor, L., & Kestenberg, E. G. (2018). "These kids are out of control": Why we must reimagine "classroom management" for equity. Corwin Press.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2020). *The NAEP Glossary of terms*. https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/glossary.aspx
- National Education Association. (2008). *Promoting educators' cultural competence to better serve culturally diverse students* [Policy brief]. <a href="https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/84027/CulturallyDiverseStudents.p">https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/84027/CulturallyDiverseStudents.p</a> <a href="https://culturallyDiverseStudents.p">df?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</a>
- Northwest Arkansas Council. (2021). *Diversity: A look at how Northwest Arkansas' population is changing* [White paper]. <a href="https://nwacouncil.org/wpcontent/uploads/2021/01/NWACouncilDiversityReport.pdf">https://nwacouncil.org/wpcontent/uploads/2021/01/NWACouncilDiversityReport.pdf</a>
- Office for Civil Rights. (2014, March). *Civil rights data collection data snapshot: Teacher Equity* (Issue Brief No. 4). U.S. Department of Education. <a href="http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/crdc-teacher-equity-snapshot.pdf">http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/crdc-teacher-equity-snapshot.pdf</a>
- Office for Civil Rights. (2021). 2020-2021 Civil rights data collection-school form (CRDC School Form). U.S. Department of Education. <a href="https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/data.html">https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/data.html</a>
- Office of Teacher Education. (2022). [Unpublished raw data on teacher candidate field placements]. University of Arkansas.
- Patel, P., & Clinedinst, M. (2021). *State-by-state student-to-counselor ratio maps by school district*. National Association for College Admission Counseling. <a href="https://www.nacacnet.org/globalassets/documents/publications/research/researchstateratiosreport.pdf">https://www.nacacnet.org/globalassets/documents/publications/research/researchstateratiosreport.pdf</a>
- Pawlo, E., Lorenzo, A., Eichert, B., & Elias, M. J. (2019). All SEL should be trauma-

- informed. Phi Delta Kappan, 101(3), 37-41.
- Pfitzner-Eden, F. (2016). Why do I feel more confident? Bandura's sources predict preservice teachers' latent changes in teacher self-efficacy. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 1-16. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01486">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01486</a>
- Roberts, A., & Roberts, J. M. (2021). Multiple regression: A practical introduction. Sage.
- Rumberger, R. W., & Losen, D. J. (2016). *The high cost of harsh discipline and its disparate impact*. UCLA Civil Rights Project.

  <a href="https://www.civilrightsproject.ucla.edu/resources/projects/center-for-civil-rights-remedies/school-to-prison-folder/federal-reports/the-high-cost-of-harsh-discipline-and-its-disparate-impact">https://www.civilrightsproject.ucla.edu/resources/projects/center-for-civil-rights-remedies/school-to-prison-folder/federal-reports/the-high-cost-of-harsh-discipline-and-its-disparate-impact</a>
- Sacks, V., & Murphey, D. (2018). *The prevalence of adverse childhood experiences, nationally, by state, and by race or ethnicity*. Childhood Trends.

  <a href="https://www.childtrends.org/publications/prevalence-adverse-childhood-experiences-nationally-state-race-ethnicity">https://www.childtrends.org/publications/prevalence-adverse-childhood-experiences-nationally-state-race-ethnicity</a>
- Safer, D., Heaton, R., & Parker, F. (1981). A behavioral program for disruptive junior high students: Results and follow-up. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 9, 483-494.
- Salary.com. (2022, April 16) *Public school teacher salary in Fayetteville, Arkansas*. <a href="https://www.salary.com/research/salary/benchmark/public-school-teacher-salary/fayetteville-ar">https://www.salary.com/research/salary/benchmark/public-school-teacher-salary/fayetteville-ar</a>
- Sawchuck, S. (2021, May 21). What is critical race theory and why is it under attack? *EdWeek*. <a href="https://www.edweek.org/leadership/what-is-critical-race-theory-and-why-is-it-under-attack/2021/05">https://www.edweek.org/leadership/what-is-critical-race-theory-and-why-is-it-under-attack/2021/05</a>
- Schaeffer, K. (2021). *America's public school teachers are far less racially and ethnically diverse than their students*. Pew Research Center. <a href="https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/12/10/americas-public-school-teachers-are-far-less-racially-and-ethnically-diverse-than-their-students/">https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/12/10/americas-public-school-teachers-are-far-less-racially-and-ethnically-diverse-than-their-students/</a>
- Skiba, R. J. (2014). The failure of zero tolerance. Reclaiming children and youth, 22(4), 27.
- Smith, E. J., & Harper, S. R. (2015). *Disproportionate impact of K-12 school suspension and expulsion on Black students in southern states*. Penn GSE Center for the Study of Race and Equity in Education. <a href="https://www.prisonpolicy.org/scans/School\_disc\_southern.pdf">https://www.prisonpolicy.org/scans/School\_disc\_southern.pdf</a>
- Souers, K. V. M., & Hall, P. (2018). *Relationship, responsibility, and regulation: Trauma-invested practices for fostering resilient learners*. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

- Souto-Manning, M., & Cheruvu, R. (2016). Challenging and appropriating discourses of power: Listening to and learning from early career early childhood teachers of color. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 49(1), 9-26.
- Spanierman, L. B., Oh, E., Heppner, P. P., Neville, H. A., Mobley, M., Wright, C. V., Dillon, R., & Navarro, R. (2011). The multicultural teaching competency scale: Development and initial validation. *Urban Education*, *46*(3), 440-464.
- Stipek, D. (2012). Context matters: Effects of student characteristics and perceived administrative and parental support on teacher self-efficacy. *The Elementary School Journal*, 112(4), 590-606.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2001). Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 17, 783-805.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2016). The state of racial diversity in the educator workforce. <a href="https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/highered/racial-diversity/state-racial-diversity-workforce.pdf">https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/highered/racial-diversity/state-racial-diversity-workforce.pdf</a>
- U.S. News & World Report (n.d.). *Education*. Retrieved April, 16, 2022 <a href="https://www.usnews.com/education/k12/search?grade=2">https://www.usnews.com/education/k12/search?grade=2</a>
- Venet, A. S. (2021). *Equity-centered trauma-informed education*. W. W. Norton and Company, Inc.
- Waitoller, F. R., & King Thorius, K. A. (2016). Cross-pollinating culturally sustaining pedagogy and universal design for learning: Toward an inclusive pedagogy that accounts for dis/ability. *Harvard Educational Review*, 86(3), 366-389.
- Walter, J. S. (2018). Global perspectives: Making the shift from multiculturalism to culturally responsive teaching. *General Music Today*, 31(2), 24-28.
- Wang, M. C., Haertel, G. D., & Walberg, H. J. (1993). Toward a knowledge base for school learning. *Review of Educational Research*, 63(3), 249-294.
- Weiner, L. (2003). Why is classroom management so vexing to urban teachers? *Theory into Practice*, 42(4), 305-312.
- Weinstein, C., Curran, M., & Tomlinson-Clarke, S. (2003). Culturally responsive classroom management: Awareness into action. *Theory into Practice*, 42(4), 269-276.
- Welch, K., Lehmann, P. S., Chouhy, C., & Chiricos, T. (2022). Cumulative racial and ethnic disparities along the school-to-prison pipeline. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, *January* 2022, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/00224278211070501">https://doi.org/10.1177/00224278211070501</a>
- Will, M. (December 20, 2021). The teaching profession in 2021(in charts). *EdWeek*. <a href="https://www.edweek.org/teaching-learning/the-teaching-profession-in-2021-in-charts/2021/12">https://www.edweek.org/teaching-learning/the-teaching-profession-in-2021-in-charts/2021/12</a>

### Appendix A

### Measure of Independent Variable: Cultural Competence Readiness Survey

#### MULTICULTURAL TEACHING COMPETENCY SCALE

TEACHER BELIEFS INVENTORY SCORING PROCEDURE

Spanierman, L. B., Oh, E., Heppner, P. P., Neville, H. A., Mobley, M., Wright, C. V., Dillon, F. R., & Navarro, R. (2011). The Multicultural Teaching Competencies Scale (MTCS): Development and initial validation. *Urban Education*, 46, 440-464.

1=Strongly Disagree 2=Moderately Disagree 3=Slightly Disagree 4=Slightly Agree 5=Moderately Agree

	6=Strong	gly Agree					
1	I plan many activities to celebrate diverse cultural practices in my classroom.	11	I am knowledgeable about the particular teaching strategies that affirm the racial and ethnic identities of all students.				
2	I understand the various communication styles among different racial and ethnic minority students in my classroom.	12.	I rarely examine the instructional materials I use in the classroom for racial and ethnic bias.				
3.	I consult regularly with other teachers or administrators to help me understand multicultural issues related to instruction.	13.	I integrate the cultural values and lifestyles of racial and ethnic minority groups into my teaching.				
4.	I have a clear understanding of culturally responsive pedagogy.	14	I am knowledgeable about the various				
5	I often include examples of the experiences and perspectives of racial and ethnic groups during my classroom lessons.	15.	community resources within the city that I teach.  I often promote diversity by the behaviors I exhibit.				
6.	I plan school events to increase students' knowledge about cultural experiences of various racial and ethnic groups.	16.	I establish strong, supportive relationships with racial and ethnic minority parents.				
7.	I am knowledgeable about racial and ethnic identity theories.		which is bolded above, is reverse scored t 6 = 1, 5 = 2, 4 = 3, 3 = 4, 2 = 5, 1 = 6.				
8.	My curricula integrate topics and events from racial and ethnic minority populations.	Higher scores indicate greater levels of multicultural teaching competency.					
9.	I am knowledgeable of how historical experiences of various racial and ethnic minority groups may affect students' learning.	Factor 1: Multicultural Teaching Skill consists of the following 10 items: 1, 3, 5, 6, 8, 10, 12, 13, 15, 16  Factor 2: Multicultural Teaching Knowledge consists of the following 6 items: 2, 4, 7, 9, 11, and 14					
10	I make changes within the general school environment so racial and ethnic minority students will have an equal opportunity for success.	For more information please contact Lisa Spanierman lisa spanierman@asu.edu					

# Appendix B

## Measure of Dependent Variable: Classroom Management Self-Efficacy

Teacher Beliefs  Directions: Please indicate your opinion about each of the questions below by marking any one of the nine responses in the columns on the right side, ranging from (1) "None at all" to (9) "A Great Deal" as each represents a degree on the continuum.  Please respond to each of the questions by considering the combination of your current ability, resources, and opportunity to do each of the following in your present position.		This questionnaire is designed to help us gain a better understanding of the kinds of things that create challenges for teachers. Your answers are confidential.									
		None at all		Very Little		Some Degree		Quite A Bit		A Great Deal	
1.	How much can you do to control disruptive behavior in the classroom?	0	2	3	(1)	(3)	(6)	0	(8)	0	
2.	How much can you do to motivate students who show low interest in school work?	0	2	3	(1)	(3)	(6)	0	(8)	0	
3.	How much can you do to calm a student who is disruptive or noisy?	0	2	3	0	3	(6)	0	(1)	0	
4.	How much can you do to help your students value learning?	0	2	0	0	3	(6)	0	0	0	
5.	To what extent can you craft good questions for your students?	0	2	3	•	(3)	6	0	(8)	9	
6.	How much can you do to get children to follow classroom rules?	0	2	0	0	(3)	6	0	(8)	(9)	
7.	How much can you do to get students to believe they can do well in school work?	0	3	3	•	(3)	6	0	(3)	9	
8.	How well can you establish a classroom management system with each group of students?	0	2	3	(4)	(3)	6	0	(3)	9	
9.	To what extent can you use a variety of assessment strategies?	0	2	3	(4)	(5)	6	7	(8)	9	
10.	To what extent can you provide an alternative explanation or example when students are confused?	0	2	3	•	(3)	6	0	(3)	0	
11.	How much can you assist families in helping their children do well in school?	0	2	3	(4)	(5)	6	0	(8)	0	
12.	How well can you implement alternative teaching strategies in your classroom?	0	(2)	3	0	(3)	6	0	(3)	(9)	

# Appendix C

## **Control Variables: Researcher Created Questions**

	1.	(Required) Select the category that represents the number of years you have taught						
		including the currer	it school year:					
		1-2 years	3-9 years	10 or more years				
2.		(Required) Current	grade level taught:					
		K 1 2 3 4 5 6 (type	in if a split classroom)					
3.		, ,	teach in a school that receives Title eceives free or reduced prices for lu	<b>5</b> .				
4.		(Required) What is	your racial/ethnic identity? Select a	all that apply				
		American Indian or Alaska Native						
		Asian						
		Black or African American						
		Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish descent						
		Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander						
		White						
5.		(Optional) Gender						
		Male						
		Female						
		Non-binary						
4.	(Op	tional) Select (Yes/I	No) if you would like to receive a se	eparate form which will ask for				
yo	ur e	mail address for a rai	ndomized chance of receiving a \$20	0.00 Amazon gift card.				
*E	nter	Email Address						
En	ıail	addresses will not be	e connected to the data collected in	the survey.				

**Appendix D** 

**Survey Invitation Email** 

Dear < Principal Name>:

I am writing to request your K-6 certified teachers' participation in a survey I am

conducting to research culturally responsive teaching and classroom management skills to help

inform our Educator Preparation Programs in revising our courses. I would sincerely appreciate

it if you could forward the following message to your certified faculty:

Dear K-6 Certified Teachers,

I am conducting a research study examining cultural responsiveness and classroom

management beliefs in K-6 educators in Benton and Washington Counties. The survey should

take approximately 5-7 minutes to complete. All information collected will remain confidential

and no identifying information will be tied to responses. You may choose at the end of the

survey to provide your email address to participate in a random drawing for a chance to win one

of three \$20.00 Amazon gift cards. Your contribution to this research will help inform Educator

Preparation Programs and in-service professional development opportunities in determining

revisions to curriculum and instruction methods. I am grateful for your valuable time and honest

responses to this survey. <Qualtrics Survey Link>

Sincerely,

Bonnie King, M.A.T.

**ADLL Doctoral Candidate** 

kingb@uark.edu

50